**COPY**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE  
OF MISSISSIPPI**

Case # 2005-CP-00667-CoA

**James Ramsey**

**Appellant'**

**Vs.**

**FILED**

**Case #**

**State of Mississippi**

**JUL 09 2007**

**Appellee**

OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Submitted By:

*James Ramsey*

James Ramsey, Pro'se, Petitioner

MDOC # L6811 BCRCF

2792 Hwy. 8, West

Cleveland, MS 38732

**EVIDENTIARY HEARING NOT REQUESTED**

## **

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The course of the proceedings and disposition of the charges.

Petitioner was indicted by the Grand Jury of Panola County on or about the 3<sup>rd</sup> day of October 2002 on the charges of Sales of a Controlled Substance in violation of MCA 41-29-139(a), on a three (3) count indictment.

Thereafter, the Petitioner entered a guilty plea on the 16<sup>th</sup> day of June 2003 to all three (3) counts of the indictment. The Petitioner was sentenced by the Honorable Judge Anne Lamar to serve a term of five (5) years on each count to run consecutive and an additional ten (10) years to serve on Post-Release Supervision with five (5) years reporting to a Probation Officer and five (5) years non-reporting.

Petitioner, was represented by Honorable Sarah C. Jubb, a member of the Mississippi Bar Association.

Petitioner asserts that there have been only three (3) previously filed proceedings in either State or Federal Court filed on Petitioner's behalf.

The first motion was titled Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence which was filed within the Panola County Circuit Court on or about the 9<sup>th</sup> day of December 2003.

The second motion filed (legal documents are considered FILED when they are turned over to prison personnel) by the Petitioner was mailed from BCRCF on or about the 26<sup>th</sup> day of April 2004. But the Panola County Court did not actually file the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief until much later on the 24<sup>th</sup> day of November 2004 (this can easily be proven by examining the Legal Mail Log here at BCRCF). The Petitioner believes that the Panola County Circuit Court intentionally delayed the FILING of his Post-Conviction for a period of six (6) months.

The third motion filed by the Petitioner was a Notice of Appeal filed on 28 March 2005 with the Panola County Circuit Court.

## II.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

See; “Facts Within the Petitioner’s Personal Knowledge,” contained within the Post-Conviction Relief Petition.

#### **ISSUE ONE: THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING RAMSEY DID NOT PROVE INNEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.**

Counsel was ineffective in not informing Ramsey, prior to advising him to pleas guilty, that the State’s two **confidential informers** were themselves awaiting the out come of pending drug charges against them. These two C.I.’s which were listed on Ramsey’s indictment as, were the State’s witnesses in chief, and unknown to Ramsey, their testimony was subject to impeachment under State Law, and Uniform Circuit and County Court Practices.

Had Ramsey known that a jury instruction would have been issued to the jury, informing the panel to weigh these witnesses testimony with caution, or a “grain of salt,” so to speak, Ramsey most certainly would not have entered a Plea of Guilty, but would have exercised his right to a trial by jury.

As Ramsey pled guilty, Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985) comes into play, which holds that the two part Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) test applies to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Under Strickland, in conjunction with Hill, a petitioner seeking to establish ineffective assistance of counsel must demonstrate that:

(1) Counsel's advice and performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) The petitioner must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's errors, he would not have plead guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. *Id.* at 474 U.S. 59 (emphasis added)

In Ramsey's situation his attorney failed to properly investigate into the facts and circumstance of the Prosecutions case against Ramsey, and Ramsey therefore was placed in a position of defenselessness. This in turn left Ramsey no other option other than pleading guilty, or in the alternative, spending the rest of his life in prison. Courts across our land have consistently held that trial counsel's failure to investigate and prepare for trial amounts to ineffective assistance. See generally; Capps v. Sullivan, 921 F. 2d 260 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990), Kemp v. Leggett, 635 F. 2d 453 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981), Nealy v. Cabanna, 764 F. 2d 1173 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981).

Further on the day Ramsey was scheduled for trial, his lead attorney did not show up at Court, but sent another attorney in his place who was totally unfamiliar with Ramsey's case. Such action only served to heighten Ramsey's reluctance to exercise his rights.

Accordingly in the interest of Justice Ramsey ask that this Honorable Court reverse his guilty plea, and remand this case back to Panola County, and set it for trial.

## ISSUE TWO: RAMSEY ENTERED AN UNINTELLIGENT AND INVOLUNTARY PLEA OF GUILTY.

Advice of counsel is a major area of factual inquiry when determining if a guilty plea was intelligently entered. Ramsey was placed in a submissive position on the day of trial, by his lead attorney's failure to show up for court, and sending a representative in his stead who was utterly unfamiliar with the facts, defense, and circumstances of Ramsey's case. On this same day, Ramsey entered an open plea of guilty, on the advice of this attorney. (see; Sanders v. State, 440 So. 2d (Miss. 1982)). Further, Ramsey was not properly advised of his chances at trial, defensive tactics, and the fact of the State's main two witnesses having felonies.

In Myers v. State, 583 So. 2d 174 (Miss.1991) the Mississippi Supreme Court opined: "We think what we said in Sanders bears reiteration:" And further stated.

"The relationship of the accused to his lawyer provides a critical context here. As he stands before the Bar of Justice, the indicted defendant often has few friends. The one person in the world, upon whose judgement and advice, skill and experience, loyalty and integrity, that the defendant must be able to rely upon, is his lawyer. This is as it should be. Any rational defendant is going to rely heavily upon his lawyer's advice as to how he should respond to the trial Judge's questions at the plea hearing. He may also rationally rely on his lawyer's advice as to what the outcome of the plea hearing will be. Yet it is the defendant, not the lawyer, who enters the plea. It is the defendant, not the lawyer, who is going to serve time. It is the defendant, not the lawyer, whose Constitutional Rights are being waived at

the plea hearing. It is the defendant's plea and accompanying waiver of rights, which under established law must be voluntarily and intelligently given, with full appreciation of the consequences to follow." Sanders at 286.

In Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 378, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 2584-85, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986), the United States Supreme Court stated: "A layman will ordinarily be unable to recognize counsel's errors and to evaluate counsel's professional performance; consequently, a criminal defendant will rarely know that he has not been represented competently until after trial or appeal, usually when he consults another lawyer about his case. Indeed, an accused will often not realize that he has a meritorious ineffective claim until he begins collateral review proceedings. An ineffective assistance claim by its very nature refers to the totality of counsel's pre-trial and trial performance."

It should be considered as a given that Ramsey had no working relationship, and thereby confidence, in this attorney, who until the day of trial, had no prior knowledge, information, trial tactics, or strategy in regard to Ramsey's defense. This attorney certainly could not properly advise Ramsey of the law in relation to the facts and circumstances surrounding his accepting a guilty plea.

Accordingly, Ramsey prays this Honorable Court will enter an Order withdrawing his guilty plea in cause number CR2002-62LP1, in the Circuit Court of Panola County, Mississippi.



### **ISSUE THREE: THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT RAMSEY DID NOT SHOW ANY CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS.**

As demonstrated within ISSUES ONE and TWO , Ramsey certainly made a showing of Constitutional Violations, although as he is untrained in the law, said showing lacked all of the “Bells and Whistles,” in which a legal expert would have presented on his behalf, had he been able to afford one.

As it happens Ramsey was forced to present his appeal Pro’Se, and he respectfully ask that this Court consider same, and construe his pleadings liberally. See generally, Moore v. Ruth, 556 So. 2d 1059 (Miss. 1990).

#### **Statement of Facts that are Within the Petitioner’s Personal Knowledge**

Petitioner was arrested in Memphis, Tennessee on the 12<sup>th</sup> day of December 2002 and then extradited back to Panola County Mississippi on the 23<sup>rd</sup> day of December 2002. The Petitioner thereafter remained in the Panola County Jail until the 28<sup>th</sup> day of February 2003 when for the first time in **73** days or incarceration as a **Pretrial Detainee** the Petitioner was taken before a Judge to have a Bail Hearing.

*The Petitioner’s detention pursuant to a valid warrant and after a lapse of significant time, without a Bail Hearing, did in fact amount to a violation of Constitutionally Protected Civil Rights of DUE PROCESS OF LAW under the Fourteenth Amendment.* (see; Armstrong v. Squadrito, 152 F.3d 564, 576 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) the 7<sup>th</sup> U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals stated, “**57-day delay before initial appearance violates due process.**”

The Petitioner posted Bail within thirty (30) minutes of leaving his Bail Hearing. If the Petitioner would have been allowed to have a Bail Hearing sooner than the 73 days that it took Panola County to arrange such a Bail Hearing then the Petitioner could have been in a better position to seek Legal Counsel.

Panola County Violated the Petitioner's Constitutional Civil Rights of Due Process of Law under the United States Constitutions Fifth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment and also Article 3 Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution.

***The Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a person who is arrested the Constitutional Right of a Preliminary Hearing, an Initial Appearance, and Preliminary Examination. The Petitioner had a Liberty Interest to remain out of jail until he was proven guilty in a Court of Law.***

Due Process of Law was violated when Panola County purposely failed to have a Bail Hearing within a REASONABLE AMOUNT OF TIME (see; Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules 6.03 & 6.04 and Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, rule 5(c)). ***At no time did this Petitioner sign a Waiver of Initial Appearance or Preliminary Hearing*** and the Petitioner had not been indicted prior to his arrest and detention. The Petitioner believes the Petitioner was purposely kept confined in the Panola County Jail to damage the Petitioner's ability to have a successful defense at trial.

There can be no doubt that there existed **not** one IOTA of a justifiable factual reason why Panola County denied the Petitioner a Bail Hearing for such a long period of time. It is very clear that the Petitioner was not a flight risk because the Petitioner showed up on his Court date and the Petitioner caused absolutely no problems within the community.

In *Gerstein V. Pugh*, 420 U.S.103, 119 (1975) the Supreme Court held that "the Fourth Amendment requires a judicial determination of probable cause as a prerequisite to extended restraint of liberty following arrest."

The Panola County Law Enforcement Authorities repeatedly questioned the Petitioner about a homicide that the Petitioner knew absolutely nothing about. The person that was later convicted for that homicide told the Panola County Law Enforcement Authorities that the Petitioner had nothing to do with the homicide. The homicide that Petitioner had nothing to do with is the only reason that Panola County held the Petitioner without bail.

Also, the two (2) Confidential Informants named on the Petitioner's indictment were themselves awaiting the outcome of pending Drug Related Charges against them. The Petitioner is confident that the Narcotic Police made promises of leniency in exchange for the Confidential Informants buying drugs from other drug USERS, therefore entrapping other drug USERS like myself.