JAMES ALLEN RAMSEY

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

AUG 1 3 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

NO. 2005-CP-0667-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
PROPOSITION I
RAMSEY'S GUILTY PLEA WAS VOLUNTARILY AND
INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED
PROPOSITION II
RAMSEY RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL1
PROPOSITION III
RAMSEY WAS PROPERLY PROVIDED WITH A BOND
PROPOSITION IV
RAMSEY'S SENTENCES WERE WELL WITHIN THE
GUIDELINES FOR SALE OF COCAINE 1
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U. S. 238, 242 (1969)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064-65, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984)
STATE CASES
Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992)
Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992)
Barnwell v. State, 567 So. 2d 215, 221-222 (Miss. 1990)
Branch v. State, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977)
Byrd v. State, 522 So. 2d 756, 760 (Miss 1988)
Clark v. State , 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987)
Johnson v. State, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929)
Johnston v . State, 730 So. 2d 534, 538 (Miss. 1997)
Leatherwood v State, 473 So. 2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1985)
Lindsay v. State, 720 So. 2d 182, 184
McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990)
Mohr v. State , 584 So. 2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991)
Moody v. State, 644 So. 2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994)
Myers v. State, 583 So. 2d 174, 177(Miss
Nicolau v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992)
Smith v State, 490 So. 2d 860 (Miss. 1986)
Stringer v. State, 454 So. 2d 468, 476-477 (Miss. 1984)

Whitley v. State, 511 So. 2d 929, 932(Miss
Wilson v. State, 577 So. 2d 394, 396-97(Miss

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES ALLEN RAMSEY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2005-CP-0667-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On June 16, 2003, Ramsey entered "an open plea" of guilty to three counts of sale of cocaine in Panola County. R. 49. The trial court found that his guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. R. 58. Ramsey was sentenced to serve three consecutive five year sentences, with ten years of post release supervision, five years reporting. C.P. 19

On November 24, 2004, Ramsey filed for Post Conviction Relief, claiming that his due process rights were violated when he was denied bond for two months and he was entrapped as well as other unsupported issues. C.P. 6-14. The trial court denied relief, finding no merit to Ramsey's unsupported claims. C.P. 19-20.

Ramsey filed notice of appeal to the Supreme Court. C. P. 21.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

WAS RAMSEY'S PLEA VOLUNTARILY ENTERED?

II.

WAS RAMSEY GIVEN EFFECTIVE GUILTY PLEA COUNSEL?

III.

WAS RAMSEY DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN HE WAS WITHOUT BOND?

IV.

WAS RAMSEY'S SENTENCES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ramsey was indicted for three sales of cocaine in Panola County by a Panola County Grand jury on October 3, 2002. C.P. 32-33. Ramsey was served with a copy of that indictment. C.P. 34.

On June 16, 2003, Ramsey pled guilty to three counts of sale of cocaine before the Circuit Court of Panola County, the Honorable Ann Lamar presiding. Ramsey was represented by Mrs. Sally Jubb. C.P. 49.

Ramsey, with assistance from his guilty plea counsel, filled out and filed a "Petition To Enter a Guilty Plea." C.P. 34-40. In that Petition, Ramsey admitted to being 23 years old, and having completed eleven years of school. R. 34. He was represented by Mr. Pearson and Mrs. Sally Jubb. Ramsey knew he was entering an "open plea." He was pleading guilty to sale of cocaine without any recommendation by the state. Ramsey admitted knowing "the thirty year" maximum sentence for sale of cocaine. C.P. 36.

Ramsey acknowledged knowing the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty.

These rights included his right to a trail with cross examination of witnesses and a right against self incrimination. R. 35.

On June 16, 2003, a guilty plea hearing was held before the Circuit Court of Panola County, the Honorable Ann H. Lamar presiding. R. 48. Ramsey was sworn in before the court. He admitted that everything in his petition "was true and correct." R. 50. Ramsey agreed with the factual account presented by the prosecution as to three separate sales of cocaine to undercover agents by Ramsey. These sales occurred on January 15, 2002, February 8, 2002, and June 14, 2002 in Como, Panola County. R. 51.

Ramsey admitted that he had not been promised anything or coerced into pleading guilty. R. 57. Ramsey also admitted that he was "satisfied with the help and assistance" provided by his guilty

plea counsel. R. 57.

After advising and questioning Ramsey and his counsel about whether Ramsey understood the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty, the maximum thirty year sentence for a sale of cocaine and whether he was admitting to three sales of cocaine, the court found that Ramsey's plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. R. 58. At the time of the hearing, Ramsey was out on bond. C.P. 49.

Ramsey was sentenced to serve three consecutive five year sentences, with ten years of post release supervision, five years reporting. C.P. 19.

On November 24, 2004, Ramsey filed for post conviction relief, claiming that his "due process" rights were violated when he was denied bond for two months and was entrapped as well as other unsupported issues. C.P. 6-14. The trial court denied relief, finding no merit to any of Ramsey's unsupported claims. C.P. 19-20.

Ramsey filed notice of appeal to the Supreme Court. C. P. 21.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The record reflects there was sufficient evidence for determining that Ramsey's guilty plea were voluntarily and intelligently entered. C.P. 48-59. The record of Ramsey's guilty plea hearing indicates that the trial court correctly found that Ramsey understood "the nature of the charges against him and the consequences of his plea." She reached this conclusion after advising and questioning Ramsey on the record. Ramsey admitted under oath to understanding the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty, the thirty year maximum sentence for sale of cocaine, and that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty pleas. C.P. 19-20. He admitted that he was entering an "open plea" with no recommendation from the prosecution. C.P. 56.
- 2. The record reflects that Ramsey was provided effective assistance of counsel by his guilty plea counsel. Instead of three separate thirty year sentences for sale of cocaine, Ramsey received three consecutive five year sentences followed by supervised probation. Ramsey admitted that he was guilty of the three separate sales of cocaine and that he was "satisfied with the help and assistance" of his guilty plea counsel. C.P. 52; 57. He admitted that he was out on bond at the time of the guilty plea hearing. C.P. 49.

There were no affidavits or other evidence in support of Ramsey's claim included with his Motion. There was therefore no evidence of either deficient performance or of prejudice to his defense.

3. There is a lack of evidence for holding that Ramsey was improperly denied an opportunity to make bond. Rather the record reflects that Ramsey was "out on bond" at the time of his guilty plea hearing. R. 49. There are no affidavits or any other support for Ramsey's claims about his being denied an opportunity for a bond hearing at some other earlier date.

4. Ramsey's five year sentences were well within the guidelines provided for one found guilty of sale of cocaine. Ramsey admitted that he knew the thirty year sentence for sale of cocaine. He also knew he was entering an "open plea." His five year consecutive sentences were therefore not "cruel and unusual" or excessive given his multiple convictions.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

RAMSEY'S GUILTY PLEA WAS VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED.

Ramsey stated in his motion for post conviction relief that his guilty plea was not intelligently and voluntarily entered. Appellant's brief page 7.

To the contrary, the record of Ramsey's guilty plea hearing included in this cause indicates, as found by the trial court, that Ramsey's plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. R. 58. This was determined after Ramsey and his guilty plea counsel, Ms. Sally Jubb, were questioned by the trial court. They were questioned about their understanding of the nature of the sale of cocaine charges and the possible consequences of Ramsey's open plea.

Ramsey, with assistance from his guilty plea counsel, had filled out and filed a "Petition To Enter a Guilty Plea." C.P. 34-40. In that Petition, Ramsey admitted to being "23 years old," and having completed "eleven years" of school. R. 34. He was represented by Mr. Pearson and Mrs. Jubb. Ramsey knew he was pleading guilty to sale of cocaine without any recommendation by the state. R. 34. It was an "open plea." He understood that "a thirty year" sentence was the maximum sentence for one convicted for sale of cocaine. C.P. 36.

Ramsey acknowledged knowing the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty.

These rights included his right to a trial with cross examination of witnesses and a right against self incrimination. R. 35.

On June 16, 2003, a guilty plea hearing was held before the Circuit Court of Panola County, the Honorable Ann H. Lamar presiding. R. 48. Ramsey was sworn in before the court. He admitted that his guilty plea counsel had gone over the information in his Petition with him, He admitted that

everything in his petition was "true and correct." R. 50. Ramsey agreed with the factual account presenting by the prosecution as to three separate sales of cocaine committed by Ramsey. These were sales to undercover agents on January 15, 2002, February 8, 2002, and June 14, 2002 in Como, Panola County. R. 51.

Ramsey admitted that he had not been promised anything or coerced into pleading guilty. R. 57. Ramsey also admitted that he was "satisfied with the help and assistance" provided by his guilty plea counsel. R. 57.

After advising and questioning Ramsey and his counsel, the trial court found that Ramsey understood the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty, and the maximum thirty year sentence for a sale of cocaine. There was a factual basis for the plea. Ramsey admitted to having committed the three sales of cocaine. He also admitted that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. After determining these facts to be the case, the Court found that Ramsey's plea was "freely and voluntarily given" and there was a "factual basis to support these charges against you." R. 58.

In Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992), this Court found, in accord with Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U. S. 238, 242 (1969), that a defendant must be advised and understand "the nature of the charge against him and the consequences of the plea." This is necessary if the plea is to be accepted on the record as voluntarily and intelligently entered.

A plea of guilty is not binding upon a criminal defendant unless it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. Myers v. State, 583 So. 2d 174, 177(Miss. 1991). A plea is deemed "voluntary and intelligent" only where the defendant is advised concerning the nature of the charge against him and the consequences of the plea. See Wilson v. State, 577 So. 2d 394, 396-97(Miss. 1991). Specifically, the defendant must be told that a guilty plea involves a waiver of the right to a trial by jury, the right to confront adverse witnesses, and the right to protection against self incrimination. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969). Rule 3.03 of the Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice

additionally requires, inter alia, that the trial judge "inquire and determine" that the accused understands the maximum and minimum penalties to which he may be sentenced.

The Appellee would submit that we have cited sufficient evidence for determining that the trial court correctly found that Ramsey's plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

RAMSEY RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Ramsey also claimed that he did not receive effective assistance of counsel from Mrs. Sally Jubb, his guilty plea counsel. Appellant's brief page 7.

To the contrary, the record indicates that Ramsey admitted under oath that he was "satisfied with the help and assistance" provided by his guilty plea counsel. R. 57.

For Ramsey to be successful in his ineffective assistance claim, he must satisfy the two-pronged test set forth in **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064-65, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984) and adopted by this Court in **Stringer v. State**, 454 So. 2d 468, 476-477 (Miss. 1984). Ramsey must prove: (1) that his counsel's performance was "deficient," and (2) that this supposed deficient performance "prejudiced" his defense. The burden of proving both prongs rests with Ramsey. **McQuarter v. State**, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Finally, Ramsey must show that there is "a reasonable probability" that but for the alleged errors of his counsel, the sentence of the trial court would have been different. **Nicolau v. State**, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992), **Ahmad v. State**, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

The second prong of the **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) is to determine whether there is "a reasonable probability" that but for the alleged errors of Mrs. Jubb, the result of Ramsey's guilty plea would have been different. This is to be determined from "the totality of the circumstances" involved in his case.

Appellee would submit that based upon the record we have cited, there is a lack of evidence for holding that there is "a reasonable probability" that Mrs. Jubb erred in assisting Ramsey in filing out a guilty plea petition and pleading guilty before Judge Ann Lamar.

Instead of facing three thirty year sentences for sale of cocaine, Ramsey received three five year sentences. He admitted he knew he was entering "an open plea" with no recommendation by the prosecution. C.P. 56. He admitted that he was guilty of the three separate sales.

As stated in **Strickland**: and quoted in **Mohr v. State**, 584 So. 2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991): Under the first prong, the movant 'must show that the counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Here there is a strong presumption of competence. Under the second prong, the movant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.' The defendant must prove both prongs of the test. <u>Id</u>. 698.

Ramsey bears the burden of proving that both parts of the tests have been met.

Leatherwood v State, 473 So. 2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1985).

The burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel is on the defendant to show that the counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

When an appeal involves post conviction relief, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held, "that where a party offers only his affidavit, then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit." **Lindsay v. State**, 720 So. 2d 182, 184 (6 (Miss. 1998); **Smith v State**, 490 So. 2d 860 (Miss. 1986). There is no affidavits or any other evidence indicating that his guilty plea counsel mislead him or provided him with any erroneous advise and counsel. C.P. 6-14.

In **Johnston v**. **State**, 730 So. 2d 534, 538 (Miss. 1997), the Court stated that the burden of showing prejudice could not be met by merely alleging it.

Additionally, there is a further requirement which Johnston must hurdle, prejudice. Claims alleging a deficiency in the attorney performance are subject to a general requirement that the defendant affirmatively prove prejudice. **Strickland**, 466 U. S. at 693., 104 S. Ct. at 2067. However, Johnston fails to make any allegations of prejudice. As in **Earley**, Johnson must affirmatively prove, not merely allege that prejudice resulted from counsel's deficient performance. *Earley*, 595 So. 2d at 433. Johnston has failed on the second prong of **Strickland**. Having failed to meet either prong of the **Strickland** test, we find that there is no merit to the ineffective

assistance of counsel claim raised by Johnston.

Based upon the record in the instant cause, the Appellee would submit that the trial court correctly found neither evidence of a deficient performance or of any prejudice to any defense Ramsey had to the charges in the instant cause. This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

RAMSEY WAS PROPERLY PROVIDED WITH A BOND

Ramsey believes that his right to due process was violated because he was held in jail sixty five days before he was given an opportunity to have bond set for his release. Appellant's brief page 7.

The record reflects that there were no affidavits or other support for any of Ramsey's allegations included with his motion. C.P. 6-14. The record also reflects that at the time of the hearing, Ramsey was already out on bond, C.P. 49.

The trial court denied relief, finding that there was no support for any of Ramsey's claims. In addition, Ramsey's claim of being entrapped was contradicted by his sworn statements at his guilty plea hearing. He admitted that he had committed the three different sales of cocaine to undercover agents in Como, Panola County. R. 57-58. Likewise, he admitted that he was "satisfied" with the services provided by his guilty plea counsel and that he had not been coerced or promised anything by anyone in exchange for his guilty plea. R. 57.

- Q. Are you satisfied with the help and the assistance that's been provided to you by Mrs. Jubb in this case?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Have you any complaints against her or the way she's handled your case, or anything you want to bring to my attention?
- A. No, ma'am.
- Q. Mr. Ramsey, do you, in fact, admit that on or about January the 15th, 2002, that you sold cocaine to Kelsey Harmon?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Do you admit that on or about February the 8th, 2002, that you sold cocaine to Kelsey Harmon?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And do you admit that on or about June 14th, 2002, that you sold cocaine to Tommy Edwards?

A. Yes, ma'am. R. 57-58.

The trial court in denying relief pointed out that there was no affidavits or any other evidence in support of Ramsey's claim of having his due process rights violated.

The essence of Ramsey's argument is that he was denied bond for over two months and he was entrapped. In the transcript of the plea, Ramsey admitted that he committed the crimes, he was satisfied with his attorneys' services, and he was not coerced into entering his plea. Ramsey provides no affidavits or other evidence to support any of his allegations. Ramsey has not proven ineffective assistance of counsel based on the requirements of **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U. S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed 674 (1984); and **Moody v. State**, 644 So. 2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994). Also, Ramsey has failed to show any Constitutional violations. C.P. 20.

In Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987), this Court stated there is a presumption that a trial court's judgement is correct. The burden is upon an appellant to prove otherwise.

We have held, 'There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court.' **Branch v. State**, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977). 'It is the duty of counsel to make more than an assertion, they should state reasons for their propositions, and cite authorities in their support...' **Johnson v. State**, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929).

The Appellee would submit that the trial court correctly found no support for any of Ramsey's claims about having his due process rights violated. This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

RAMSEY'S SENTENCES WERE WELL WITHIN THE GUIDELINES FOR SALE OF COCAINE.

Ramsey also complains about his sentence being cruel and unusual and "much too lengthy."

To the contrary, the record reflects that Ramsey acknowledged knowing that the maximum sentence for sale of cocaine was "thirty years." He did so both in his Petition To Enter A Guilty Plea and under oath at his guilty plea hearing. R. 36; 56.

In **Barnwell v. State**, 567 So. 2d 215, 221-222 (Miss. 1990), this Court stated that when sentences are within the guidelines provided for punishment by the legislature, they would not be considered cruel and unusual punishment. As stated:

These principles are consistent with the Supreme Court's overriding theme expressed in both **Solem** and **Rummel**, of giving substantial deference to the legislature in determining the limits of punishment for crimes, as well as recognizing the discretion of trial courts in sentencing criminals. Further, they are consistent with our own prior case law on this subject.

Though no sentence is "per se" constitutional, this Court, in the context of our habitual statutes, as well as in sentencing other offenders, has recognized the broad authority of the legislature and trial court in this area and has repeatedly held that where a sentence is within the prescribed statutory limits, it will generally be upheld and not regarded as cruel and unusual. **Byrd v. State**, 522 So. 2d 756, 760 (Miss 1988); **Whitley v. State**, 511 So. 2d 929, 932(Miss. 1987)...

The record reflects that Ramsey's three consecutive five year sentences were within the statutory guidelines provided for one found guilty of sale of cocaine. Ramsey acknowledged knowing the thirty year maximum sentence. C.P. 36; 56. He knew his plea was an open plea with no recommendation from the prosecution. C.P. 56. Therefore, the trial court found there was a lack of evidence of any cruel and unusual sentence or excessive sentence in the instant cause. This issue is also lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed for the reasons stated in this brief.